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 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01377 
CASE NAME: DUHE VS. HOSPITAL COURIERS 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR PRELIMINARY APPROVAL OF CLASS 
SETTLEMENT FILED BY PAMELA BALDWIN, ROBIN DHUE, KIA MARTIN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Plaintiffs Robin Duhe, Pamela Baldwin, and Kia Martin move for preliminary approval of 
their class action settlement with defendant Hospital Couriers Nevada, LLC.   

A. Background and Settlement Terms 

The original complaint was filed July 9, 2019.  It is a class action complaint alleging that 
defendant violated the Labor Code by filing to provide meal and rest periods, unpaid “off the 
clock” work, failure to pay minimum wage, overtime pay, and premium pay, and failure to 
provide wages when due.   In addition it alleges that defendant violated the federal Fair Credit 
Reporting Act (15 U.S.C. § 1681b) (“FCRA”), by failing to make required disclosures and failing 
to obtain proper consent before running credit checks on employees and prospective 
employees.  It also includes PAGA allegations, which were added in the First Amended 
Complaint, filed October 22, 2019.   

The settlement would create a gross settlement fund of $1,402,500.  The class 
representative payment would be $5,000 to each of the three plaintiffs.  Counsel’s attorney’s 
fees would be $467,500 (33% of the settlement).  Litigation costs would not exceed $25,000.  
The settlement administrator (ILYM Group) would cap its costs at $20,000.  PAGA penalties 
would be $50,000, resulting in a payment of $37,500 to the LWDA.  Thus, the net settlement 
amount available to the class would be $885,000.  The fund is non-reversionary.   

The proposed settlement actually would certify two classes.  The first, the “California 
class” would include all non-exempt employees who worked for defendant in California from July 
9, 2015 to October 18, 2020. It consists of 495 members. Funds would be apportioned based on 
the number of work weeks during the class period.  The second, the “FCRA class” would consist 
of employees or prospective employees of defendant in the United States “for whom Defendant 
procured a background check during the FCRA Class Period, for whom Defendant has record of 
last known address, telephone number, and/or email address.”  It has 611 members.  The total 
amount allocated to the FCRA class would be $61,100, divided up per capita (i.e., about $100 
per member).  

The class members will not be required to file a claim.  Class members may object or opt 
out of the settlement.  They may dispute their number of work weeks.  Various prescribed 
follow-up steps will be taken with respect to mail that is returned as undeliverable.  Uncashed 
checks would be cancelled and would be provided to a cy pres recipient, Contra Costa Senior 
Legal Services, pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 384.     

Based on the estimated class size for the California class, the average net settlement 
share is about $41 per work week, or $1,664 per member. 

Substantial formal discovery was undertaken, and the matter settled after meeting with 
an experienced mediator.   
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Counsel also has provided a summary of a quantitative analysis of the case, and how 
the settlement compares to the potential value of the case, after allowing for various risks and 
contingencies. 

B. Legal Standards 

The primary determination to be made is whether the proposed settlement is “fair, 
reasonable, and adequate,” under Dunk v. Ford Motor Co. (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 1794, 1801, 
including “the strength of plaintiffs’ case, the risk, expense, complexity and likely duration of 
further litigation, the risk of maintaining class action status through trial, the amount offered in 
settlement, the extent of discovery completed and the state of the proceedings, the experience 
and views of counsel, the presence of a governmental participant, and the reaction … to the 
proposed settlement.”   

Because this matter also proposes to settle PAGA claims, the Court also must consider 
the criteria that apply under that statute. The Legislature’s express command that PAGA 
settlements be approved by the court necessarily implies that there is some substantive 
dimension to the review.  (Labor Code § 2699(l).)  The Court’s review, however, is somewhat 
hampered by the lack of guidance in the statute or case law concerning the basis upon which a 
settlement may be approved.  The Court has found no binding authority, but one federal District 
Court has addressed the issue.  In O’Connor v. Uber Techs, Inc. (N.D. Cal. 2016) 201 
F.Supp.3d 1110, 1133, the court denied approval of class action settlements that included 
PAGA claims in part because the plaintiffs’ claims added up to as much as $1 billion in PAGA 
penalties but parties settled those claims for $1 million, or 0.1% of their alleged maximum value.  
As the court stated, “where plaintiffs bring a PAGA representative claim, they take on a special 
responsibility to their fellow aggrieved workers who are effectively bound by any judgment. 
[citation omitted]  Such a plaintiff also owes responsibility to the public at large; they act, as the 
statute’s name suggests, as a private attorney general, and 75% of the penalties go to the 
LWDA ‘for enforcement of labor laws . . . and for education of employers and employees about 
their rights and responsibilities under this code.’”  (Id., at 1134.)  In that case, the LWDA itself 
filed a brief stating that “[i]t is thus important that when a PAGA claim is settled, the relief 
provided for under the PAGA be genuine and meaningful, consistent with the underlying 
purpose of the statute to benefit the pubic and, in the context of a class action, the court 
evaluate whether the settlement meets the standards of being ‘fundamentally fair, reasonable, 
and adequate’ with reference to the public policies underlying the PAGA.”  (Id., at 1133.)  The 
Uber Techs court noted that “a court may reduce the penalty when ‘to do otherwise would result 
in an award that is unjust, arbitrary and oppressive, or confiscatory.’” (Id., at 1134, citing Labor 
Code § 2699(e)(2).)  Nonetheless, the court noted that the plaintiff had provided no “coherent 
analysis” to justify the “relatively meager value” assigned to the PAGA claim.  

California law provides some general guidance concerning judicial approval of any 
settlement.  First, public policy generally favors settlement.  (Neary v. Regents of University of 
California (1992) 3 Cal.4th 273.)  Nonetheless, the court should not approve an agreement 
contrary to law or public policy.  (Bechtel Corp. v. Superior Court (1973) 33 Cal.App.3d 405, 
412; Timney v. Lin (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 1121, 1127.)  Moreover, “[t]he court cannot 
surrender its duty to see that the judgment to be entered is a just one, nor is the court to act as a 
mere puppet in the matter.”  (California State Auto. Assn. Inter-Ins. Bureau v. Superior Court 
(1990) 50 Cal.3d 658, 664.)  As a result, courts have specifically noted that Neary does not 
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always apply, because “[w]here the rights of the public are implicated, the additional safeguard 
of judicial review, though more cumbersome to the settlement process, serves a salutatory 
purpose.”  (Consumer Advocacy Group, Inc. v. Kintetsu Enterprises of America (2006) 141 
Cal.App.4th 48, 63.) 

C. Attorney fees 

Plaintiffs seek one-third of the total settlement amount as fees, relying on the “common 

fund” theory.  Even a proper common fund-based fee award, however, should be reviewed 

through a lodestar cross-check.  In Lafitte v. Robert Half International (2016) 1 Cal.5th 480, 503, 

the Supreme Court endorsed the use of a lodestar cross-check as a way to determine whether 

the percentage allocated is reasonable.  It stated:  “If the multiplier calculated by means of a 

lodestar cross-check is extraordinarily high or low, the trial court should consider whether the 

percentage used should be adjusted so as to bring the imputed multiplier within a justifiable 

range, but the court is not necessarily required to make such an adjustment.”  (Id., at 505.)  

Following typical practice, however, the fee award will not be considered at this time, but only as 

part of final approval.   

Similarly, litigation costs and the requested representative payment of $5,000 for each 

plaintiff will be reviewed at time of final approval.  Criteria for evaluation of such requests are 

discussed in Clark v. American Residential Services LLC (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 785, 804-807.   

D. Discussion 

The moving papers sufficiently establish that the proposed settlement is fair, reasonable, 

and adequate to justify preliminary approval.  The analysis of the value of the case, while 

cursory, is sufficient for current purposes. 

E. Conclusion 

Code of Civil Procedure section 382.4 provides that where a cy pres payment is to be 

made, counsel must “in connection with the hearing for preliminary approval … notify the court if 

the attorney has a connection to or a relationship with a nonparty recipient of the distribution that 

could reasonably create the appearance of impropriety as between the selection of the recipient 

of the money or thing of value and the interests of the class.”  Accordingly, counsel are directed 

to submit a declaration complying with the requirement within seven days.  Subject to that 

submission, the motion will be granted.   

Counsel are directed to prepare an order reflecting this tentative ruling, the other findings 

in the previously submitted proposed order, and to obtain a hearing date for the motion for final 

approval from the clerk.  Other dates in the scheduled notice process should track as 

appropriate to the hearing date.  The ultimate judgment must provide for a compliance hearing 

after the settlement has been completely implemented.  Plaintiffs’ counsel are to submit a 

compliance statement one week before the compliance hearing date.  5% of the attorney’s fees 

are to be withheld by the claims administrator pending satisfactory compliance as found by the 

Court.  The Case Management Conference set for June 7, 2021 is vacated. 
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  2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01697 
CASE NAME: BROSNAN VS JACKSON 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STAY ACTION PER CCP 391.7 OR IN ALTERN 
DISM OR ORD FILED BY DARAZETTE JACKSON 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

 Defendant Darazette Jackson’s Motion to Stay Action pursuant to Code of Civil 
Procedure §391.7 is denied.  Defendant’s alternative motion for Plaintiff to furnish security 
pursuant to CCP § 391.3 is granted. Plaintiff shall furnish security in the amount of $30,000 on 
or before June 3, 2021.  If the security is not timely furnished, the complaint will be dismissed. 
 
Background 
  This action arises from a motor vehicle accident occurring on September 16, 2016, on 
Interstate 80 within the city limits of Richmond.  Plaintiff John Brosnan alleges he was travelling 
eastbound in Lane 4 in heavy traffic.  Defendant Darazette Jackson allegedly drove from the 
shoulder into Lane 4 without signaling.   Plaintiff did not have sufficient roadway to stop and 
collided with rear of Defendant’s vehicle.  Plaintiff alleges property damages to his vehicle and 
the property he was transporting in his vehicle.   
 
Motion 
 Pursuant to CCP § 391.7, Defendant brings this motion to stay the action, or in the 
alternative, dismissal or require Plaintiff to furnish security pursuant to CCP § 391.3.   
 
 Plaintiff John Brosnan appears on the Vexatious Litigant List prepared and maintained 
by the Judicial Council of California.  As of February 1, 2021 Plaintiff has been designated a 
vexatious litigant in at least 3 separate cases in Contra Costa County, with Prefiling Order.  The 
dates of the cases are:  10/05/00; 11/04/03; and 4/14/04. (Defendant’s Exhibit C.)   
 
 Defendant contends that although Attorney King filed this motion on Plaintiff’s behalf, 
Plaintiff has for all intents and purposes been acting in propria persona. Mr. King has not been 
involved in this case. All discussions, communications, discovery requests, and responses have 
been through Plaintiff.   Defendant argues that Plaintiff used Mr. King to circumvent the 
vexatious litigant statute.  
 
 Plaintiff opposes the motion, arguing that he was represented by counsel at all times and 
therefore did not need permission prior to filing this action. 
 
Analysis 
 “Subdivision (b)(4) of Code of Civil Procedure section 391 defines a vexatious litigant as 
a person who "has previously been declared to be a vexatious litigant by any state or federal 
court of record in any action or proceeding based upon the same or substantially similar facts, 
transaction, or occurrence.”  (In re Shieh (1993) 17 Cal.App.4th 1154, 1166.)  “Where a plaintiff 
has already been declared vexatious and previously received the benefit of a noticed motion 
and oral hearing, a defendant moving under section 391.7 need not again establish the plaintiff's 
status.” (Bravo v. Ismaj (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 211, 225.)  Here, Defendant has submitted 
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sufficient evidence of Plaintiff’s vexatious litigant status. Plaintiff does not dispute his status a 
vexatious litigant.   
 
 In 1990, the Legislature enacted Code of Civil Procedure section 391.7 to provide the 
courts with an additional means to counter misuse of the system by vexatious litigants. CCP § 
391.7(a) provides in part: 
 

   In addition to any other relief provided in this title, the court may, on its 
own motion or the motion of any party, enter a prefiling order which prohibits a 
vexatious litigant from filing any new litigation in the courts of this state in propria 
persona without first obtaining leave of the presiding justice or presiding judge of 
the court where the litigation is proposed to be filed. Disobedience of the order by 
a vexatious litigant may be punished as a contempt of court. 
  

 “As written, section 391.7 contemplates that once a litigant has been declared vexatious, 
the status follows the litigant to future lawsuits for purposes of requiring prefiling orders.” (Bravo 
v. Ismaj, supra, 99 Cal.App.4th at 223-224.)  “Section 391.7 does not deny the vexatious litigant 
access to the courts, but operates solely to preclude the initiation of meritless lawsuits and 
their attendant expenditures of time and costs.”  (Ibid, at pp. 221-222.) 
 
 Plaintiff has argued that CCP § 391.7 is inapplicable since has been represented by 
counsel at all times.  The Court’s record reflects that Plaintiff has indeed been represented by 
counsel.  At no point does Plaintiff proceed in pro per according to the Court’s records.   
Attorney Daniel King filed this action on behalf of Plaintiff on August 16, 2019.  On November 
11, 2019, Plaintiff attempted to substitute himself as attorney of record.  The Clerk did not file 
the substitution because the Proof of Service by mail was not completed.  King remained the 
attorney of record until April 19, 2021, when Wendy Marie Gibson substituted in as attorney of 
record. 
 
  Defendant argues that counsel was acting as Plaintiff’s “mere puppet” in filing this action 
and that under In re Shieh, supra, 17 Cal.App.4th 1154, Plaintiff should be required to obtain 
permission from the presiding judge to proceed.   
 
 This case is distinguished from Shieh. In Shieh, many of the initial pleadings were filed 
by Shieh (an attorney) in propria persona and then he associated in cocounsel or substituted in 
a variety of replacement counsel.  Despite the substitutions, the court found it obvious that 
“that every writ petition, notice of appeal, appellant's brief and opposition to orders to show 
cause filed in this division has been drafted by the same hand.”  The court determined,  

 
[I]t is clear that Shieh does not engage attorneys as neutral assessors of his 
claims, bound by ethical considerations not to pursue unmeritorious or frivolous 
matters on behalf of a prospective client. [Citation.]  Rather, these attorneys who 
ostensibly "represent" Shieh serve as mere puppets. Based on these facts, we 
conclude a prefiling order limited to Shieh's in propria persona activities would be 
wholly ineffective as a means of curbing his out-of-control behavior. 
 

(In re Shieh, supra, 17 Cal.App.4th at 1167.) 
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 The court issued an order that Shieh may not file any new litigation in the courts of this 
state, whether in propria persona or through an attorney, without first obtaining leave of the 
presiding judge of the court in which he proposes to file the litigation, as provided in Code of 
Civil Procedure section 391.7, subdivision (b). (Id.)  The court issued this order to curb Shieh’s 
abuse.  It did not apply to the pending litigation, but to future “new litigation” even if Shieh was 
represented by counsel. Here, Defendant would have the Court apply Shieh to impose the 
permission requirement in an action already pending.  Section 391.7 applies to filing of new 
litigation. The court in Shieh clearly intended the order to apply to “new litigation.”   
 
 Alternatively, Defendant moves for an order requiring security or dismissal pursuant to 
CCP §§ 391.1 and 391.3.   CCP § 391.1 provides: 
 

 In any litigation pending in any court of this state, at any time until final 
judgment is entered, a defendant may move the court, upon notice and hearing, 
for an order requiring the plaintiff to furnish security or for an order dismissing the 
litigation pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 391.3. The motion for an order 
requiring the plaintiff to furnish security shall be based upon the ground, and 
supported by a showing, that the plaintiff is a vexatious litigant and that there is 
not a reasonable probability that he or she will prevail in the litigation against the 
moving defendant. 
 

CCP § 391.3 provides: 
 

 If, after hearing the evidence upon the motion, the court determines that 
the plaintiff is a vexatious litigant and that there is no reasonable probability that 
the plaintiff will prevail in the litigation against the moving defendant, the court 
shall order the plaintiff to furnish, for the benefit of the moving defendant, security 
in such amount and within such time as the court shall fix. 
 

 Here, Plaintiff has alleged property damages only. Defendant argues that Plaintiff’s claim 
is without merit and Plaintiff has no documentary evidence to support his damages claim.  
Plaintiff only has a verbal estimate of the damage to his vehicle.  Plaintiff has no evidence of the 
other items he claimed were damaged.  In Plaintiff’s response to production of documents, 
Plaintiff admits he has no responsive documents. (Defendant’s Exhibit A.)   Plaintiff states he 
has video that shows Defendant swerved from shoulder directly in front of Plaintiff, but Plaintiff 
admits that he no longer has a complete copy of the dash cam video.   
 
 In response to Defendant’s contention that there is no evidence to support Plaintiff’s 
damages claim, Plaintiff offered that he testified in his deposition taken on April 16, 2021, to all 
of his damages, but he offered no other evidence.  The transcript was not available at the time 
the motion was filed, but Defendant’s counsel, who was present at the deposition, filed a 
declaration in support of this motion.   
 
 Defendant’s counsel states in her declaration that during the deposition, Plaintiff 
admitted he does not have any photographs to support the vehicle damage; his car was 
involved in a car accident with another vehicle the day before the subject incident; he has no 
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evidence to support the amount of damages he is claiming to his vehicle and no photographs of 
the gimballed RC camera mount.  Counsel lists the other items that Defendant testified that he 
has no documentary evidence to support the claimed damages.  (Declaration of Katherine 
Stewart.)     
 
 Upon the evidence presented, Plaintiff has not demonstrated a reasonable probability of 
prevailing.  Pursuant to CCP § 391.1(a), the Plaintiff shall furnish $30,000 security for the benefit 
of Defendant.     
 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-01637 
CASE NAME: RYAN TERRACE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCI 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE PORTIONS OF PLTFS 2ND AMND 
CMPLNT FILED BY TAYLOR MORRISON OF CALIFORNIA, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 
Before the Court is a motion to strike allegations regarding attorneys’ fees filed by Defendant 

Taylor Morrison of California, LLC (“Defendant” or “Taylor Morrison”). The motion relates to 

Plaintiff Ryan Terrace Homeowners Association (“Plaintiff” or “Ryan Terrace”)’s Second 

Amended Complaint (“SAC”). 

Defendant’s unopposed Request for Judicial Notice is granted. (Evid Code. §§ 452, 453.) 

Plaintiff’s claim for attorneys’ fees are premised on its second cause of action. However, as 

discussed in Line 4, below, Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to state a claim for 

enforcement of governing documents against Defendant. As a consequence, Plaintiff has not 

alleged a contractual or statutory basis for attorneys’ fees.  

The motion is granted, without leave to amend. 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-01637 
CASE NAME: RYAN TERRACE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCI 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended COMPLAINT of RYAN TERRACE 
HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION FILED BY TAYLOR MORRISON OF CALIFORNIA, 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a demurrer (the “Demurrer”) filed by Defendant Taylor Morrison of California, 

LLC (“Defendant” or “Taylor Morrison”). The Demurrer relates to Plaintiff Ryan Terrace 

Homeowners Association (“Plaintiff” or “Ryan Terrace”)’s Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”). 

The SAC alleges causes of action for (1) violation of Civil Code §§ 896, 897; (2) violations and 

enforcement of governing documents; (3) breach of fiduciary duty; (4) breach of construction 

contracts; (5) strict liability; (6) negligence; and (7) breach of implied warranty. Only the first, 

second, and third causes of action are alleged against Defendant. Defendant demurs to just the 
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second and third causes of action for violations and enforcement of governing documents and 

breach of fiduciary duty, respectively. 

For the following reasons, the Demurrer is sustained, without leave to amend. 

Request for Judicial Notice 

Defendant’s unopposed Request for Judicial Notice is granted. (Evid Code. §§ 452, 453.) 

Standard 

“The function of a demurrer is to test the sufficiency of the complaint as a matter of law.” 
(Holiday Matinee, Inc. v. Rambus, Inc. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1413, 1420.) A complaint “is 
sufficient if it alleges ultimate rather than evidentiary facts” (Doe v. City of Los Angeles (2007) 
42 Cal.4th 531, 550 (“Doe”)), but the plaintiff must set forth the essential facts of his or her case 
“with reasonable precision and with particularity sufficient to acquaint [the] defendant with the 
nature, source and extent” of the plaintiff’s claim. (Doheny Park Terrace Homeowners Assn., 
Inc. v. Truck Ins. Exchange (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 1076, 1099.) Legal conclusions are 
insufficient. (Id. at 1098–1099; Doe at 551, fn. 5.) The Court “assume[s] the truth of the 
allegations in the complaint, but do[es] not assume the truth of contentions, deductions, or 
conclusions of law.” (California Logistics, Inc. v. State of California (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 242, 
247.) 

Analysis 

  Violations and Enforcement of Governing Documents (2nd c/a) 

As with the prior motion practice, Defendant demurs to this cause of action on the grounds that 

Taylor Morrison no longer owns or has control over any portion of the Project. Specifically, that 

“[t]here is no statutory vehicle that permits the governing documents to be enforced against a 

developer that has no present interest in a common interest development.” (Dem. at 4:10-11.) In 

opposition, Plaintiff argues that it is not attempting to enforce traditional land-use equitable 

servitudes against Defendant but instead is attempting to enforce other obligations referenced in 

the CC&Rs. (Opp. at 4:9-11.) Specifically, Plaintiff argues that its “second cause of action seeks 

to enforce Declarant’s promise to meet the standards of the Act incorporated into the CC&Rs.” 

(Opp. at 6:3-4.)  

The gravamen of Plaintiff’s second cause of action is also essentially unchanged from the FAC; 

Plaintiff alleges Defendant’s failure to pay assessments for units it owned (SAC at ¶ 85), failure 

to build improvements (id.), failure to operate the Project in a first class condition (id. at ¶ 86), 

failure to build the project in accordance with the Standards of residential construction (id. at 

¶ 86), and alleged failure to adequately fund the reserves (id. at ¶ 88). Plaintiff alleges that as a 

consequence of these alleged failures, “elements of the Project were damaged, were left 

incomplete and/or unrepaired, including, but not limited to, those items previously identified as 

Project Defects[.]” (Id.)  

Once again, Plaintiff relies on Pinnacle Museum Tower Assn. v. Pinnacle Market Dev., LLC 

(2018) 55 Cal.4th 223 and Market Lofts Cmty. Assn. v. 9th St. Market Lofts, LLC (2014) 222 

Cal.App.4th 924 to support its argument that it may enforce other obligations referenced in the 
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CC&Rs against Defendant (see Opp. at 4:10-13; 9:28-10:4). However, as discussed in the 

Court’s order on Defendant’s demurrer to the FAC, neither Pinnacle nor Market Lofts is authority 

which would support an enforcement action against a former owner for breach of the CC&Rs. 

Specifically, in Pinnacle, the court permitted enforcement of an arbitration clause in the CC&Rs 

against a homeowner’s association, notwithstanding the fact the association did not come into 

existence until after CC&Rs were recorded and the association’s consent to arbitrate was not 

express but occurred by operation of law. While Pinnacle demonstrates that Civil Code § 5975 

can be enforced as between an HOA and their members, it is not authority for the conclusion 

that CC&Rs can be enforced against former owners in the development. 

In Market Lofts, the court found that a homeowners association was a proper party to a 

declaratory relief action seeking declaration of rights under license agreement between two 

developers because it was a directly named beneficiary under that agreement. Specifically, the 

association was a directly named beneficiary of the developers’ parking license agreement and 

was a direct contracting party to a parking sub-license agreement with one of the developers. 

And once again, notwithstanding the prior opportunity to amend, Plaintiff is not requesting 

specific performance or injunctive relief here. 

While Plaintiff has included additional allegations to the SAC, it still ultimately seeks 

compensatory damages for Defendant’s alleged prior failure to comply with the CC&Rs, when 

Defendant no longer owns any interest in the development. 

Finally, Plaintiff’s argument that the Right to Repair Act was incorporated into the CC&Rs and 

supports a right of action against the former fee owner for breach of the CC&Rs also lacks merit. 

The Right to Repair Act is the exclusive remedy for economic loss and property damage arising 

from construction defects. (Civ. Code § 943(a); see also McMillin Albany LLC v. Superior Court 

(2018) 4 Cal.5th 241, 247.)  

Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to state a claim for violations and enforcement of 

governing documents.  

  Breach of Fiduciary Duty (3d c/a)  

As with the prior demurrer, Defendant demurs to the third cause of action on the grounds that 

Plaintiff has failed to sufficiently plead the existence of a fiduciary duty between Plaintiff and 

Taylor Morrison, and that it is precluded from being asserted under the Right to Repair Act. And 

again, in opposition, Plaintiff argues that this cause of action sounds in fraud and is excluded 

from preclusion under section 943(a) of the Act and that the Plaintiff has properly alleged a 

fiduciary duty against Defendant as well as self-dealing. 

As the Court previously noted, a developer’s liability to a homeowner’s association for breach of 

the basic fiduciary duty to act in good faith, exercise proper management, and avoid conflicts of 

interest is well settled. (Raven’s Cove Townhomes, Inc. v. Kruppe Development Co. (1981) 114 

Cal.App.3d 783.) However, in sustaining the prior demurrer, the Court also noted the lack of 

detail with respect to Plaintiff’s breach of fiduciary allegations. Notwithstanding the opportunity to 

amend, the SAC still fails to identify specific individuals or allege that these unidentified directors 
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acted in bad faith. Plaintiff’s conclusory allegation that “Developer Defendants and Director 

Defendants … made decisions for the Association that benefited Developer Defendants’ and 

Director Defendants’ pecuniary and private interests at the expense of the pecuniary and private 

interests of the Association and its members” (SAC at ¶ 96) is insufficient (and identical to the 

allegation of the FAC that the Court also identified as insufficient). In the absence of this detail, 

Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to state a cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty. 

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-01895 
CASE NAME: SHANKAR VS ARAG 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended COMPLAINT of SHANKAR FILED BY 
ARAG, LLC, ARAG SERVICES, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Arag’s demurrer to the causes of action in plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint 
(“SAC”) for breach of contract and for violation of Business and Professions Code section 17200 
are overruled.  Its demurrers to the causes of action for deceit and intentional infliction of 
emotional distress are sustained, without leave to amend.  (CCP § 430.10 (e).)  While plaintiff 
has requested leave to amend, he has failed to state how he could amend the latter two claims 
to state a cause of action.  (Goodman v. Kennedy (1976) 18 Cal. 3d 335, 349.)  The Arag 
entities shall file and serve their Answer to the SAC on or before May 27, 2021. 
 

Request for Judicial Notice 
 
 The court denies Arag’s request to take judicial notice of the existence, contents and 
truth of the purported transcript of the hearing on November 19, 2015 in Monterey County.  
There are various issues with taking judicial notice of a transcript in another proceeding.  (See 
Evid. C. § 1291, 1292; Sweetwater Union High School Dist. v. Gilbane Building Co. (2019) 6 
Cal.5th 931, 944.)   Further, the key question is whether plaintiff gave attorney Garibay the 
instructions she told the court he did.  Whether that is true is subject to a reasonable dispute, 
thus making the matter inappropriate for judicial notice.  (See Fremont Indemnity Co. v. Fremont 
General Corp. (2007) 148 Cal.App.4th 97, 113.)   
The transcript does not state that plaintiff was present at the November 29, 2015 hearing, as his 
ex-wife was. 
 

The causes of action 
 
1. Breach of contract. 

 
In its ruling on the last demurrer, the Court said, “Plaintiff must attach these documents 

or any others that he alleges comprise the agreement under which Arag owes him contractual 
duties to any amended complaint.”  The Court is unclear whether plaintiff has done that.  The 
copy of the SAC in its file does not contain any contract with Arag.  However, the copy served 
on Arag does.  (See Exs. 1 and 2 to Cosimano Decl.)  Therefore, the court will treat the 
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contractual documents attached to the Cosimano Declaration as the ones that plaintiff intended 
to attach to the SAC and rule on the demurrer based on them. 

 
Arag argues its demurrer to the cause of action for breach of contract should be 

sustained because the contract between the parties does not impose on it the duties plaintiff 
pleads it does; and in the event of a conflict, the court must accept the actual contract over 
plaintiff’s construction of it.   

 
Plaintiff does not, for the most part, directly refute this argument.  He largely raises other 

points, some of which he says Arag has not disputed.  Plaintiff argues that Arag is responsible 
for the conduct of the network attorneys under the doctrine of respondeat superior and because 
it pays their fees.  He argues that while the contract states he was free to choose any attorney, 
he was not really free to do so because Arag created a substantial financial disincentive to 
choosing a non-network attorney.  Finally, he argues he gave up an attorney he had used for 
four years in the family law case in reliance on the contract (presumably meaning in reliance on 
the promise to fully pay the legal fees of a network attorney). 

 
To determine who is correct, the court will begin by reviewing the allegations in the SAC 

regarding Arag’s duties and claimed contractual breaches and comparing them to the stated 
duties in the contract.   

 
The allegations in the SAC are set forth in a specially drafted pleading as well as in a 

Judicial Council attachment cause of action for breach of contract, and are summarized as 
follows.  The SAC alleges that Wells Fargo Bank offered plaintiff an employee benefit of a legal 
services plan.  (SAC at 3:25-4:4.)  Under that plan, Arag maintains a list of network attorneys for 
covered services.  (SAC at 4:4-5; 5:20.)  Arag preregisters attorneys, and only offers a list of 
attorneys chosen by itself.  (SAC at 5:19-20.)  As part of its duty of care to its clients and 
policyholders, Arag is expected to check and ascertain the professional efficacy, integrity and 
trust aspects.  Arag uses a screening process when enrolling network attorneys.  (SAC at 5:21-
25.)   

 
Plaintiff utilized the services of attorneys Garibay and Kraemer, who were on Arag’s list 

of network attorneys.  They failed to represent him with zeal.  Garibay appeared in court on one 
occasion unprepared and without moving papers.  On a second occasion, and contrary to 
plaintiff’s instructions, she pleaded in Monterey Court that plaintiff did not want custody of his 
son.  She also pleaded, against his instructions that he consented for his son to be moved 
permanently to Ohio.  (SAC at 6:22-7:3.)   

 
Attorney Bradley Kraemer failed to raise in the Ohio court a report of an expert, which 

said that plaintiff’s son should not be moved from Ohio to Florida.  Also, contrary to plaintiff’s 
instructions, Kraemer did not oppose the son’s moving from Ohio to Florida.  (SAC at 7:1-18.)  
Kraemer also used plaintiff’s vulnerable position to extort an attorney’s fee of $10,000, saying he 
would stop representing plaintiff unless he were paid that amount.  Arag was supposed to pay 
that amount to Kraemer.  (SAC at 7:18-23.)   
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The conduct of attorneys Garibay and Kraemer is imputed to Arag under respondeat 
superior.  (SAC at 8:21.)  Arag provided a list recommending these attorneys, on which plaintiff 
relied.  (SAC at 8:22-23.)   

 
In addition to the allegations above, the Judicial Council form attachment for Breach of 

Contract states that Arag had duties under the contract to “provide competent attorneys,” “pay 
for coverage,” and “deal in good faith.”  It breached these duties by not providing “competent 
[and] trust worthy” attorneys, not paying $10,000 in covered attorney’s fees to Kraemer, and not 
dealing with plaintiff in good faith.  (Judicial Council form and SAC at (8:24-25; 9:9-10; 18:5-6.)  
It also breached by attempting to drop him from coverage.  (SAC at 18:9-10.)   
 

The contract attached to the Cosimano declaration states that Arag’s responsibility is to 
“pay the attorney fees of the Network Attorney for covered legal [in-office] services . . . resulting 
from an insured event.”  (P.4 (the numbers used are those handwritten on the bottom of the 
pages of the attachments.))  An “insured event” is “an event covered by this policy.”  (P. 3.)  
These events include certain post-divorce decree matters.  However, while there is both 
offensive and defensive coverage for a motion to enforce a child custody or child visitation 
matter, there is only defensive coverage for a motion to modify a final decree for child custody or 
visitation.  In other words, the policy covers an insured if he is sued to modify a child custody or 
visitation decree, but not if he sues to modify one.  (P. 11.)   

 
The contract also specifies the relationship between Arag, the insured, and the attorneys 

that the insured hires.  It states: 
 

You have the unrestricted right to choose an attorney.  The 
attorney is not our agent or employed by us or the policyholder.  
We . . . shall at no time control or interfere with the performance of 
the attorney and we do not guarantee the skill of the attorney. 
 

 The contract offers different payments for network and non-network attorneys.  For 
instance, for a contested divorce, Arag will pay up to 20 hours of services provided by a network 
attorney, whereas for a non-network attorney it will pay $1,080.  (P. 7.)  Further, for the defense 
of a request to modify a child custody or visitation decree, Arag will pay the full fees of a network 
attorney, but only $360 for a non-network attorney.  (P. 11.)     
 
 Several things are clear after comparing the actual terms of the contract to the terms as 
alleged in the SAC.  First, Arag’s sole, explicit duty under the contract is to pay the fees of an 
attorney for services resulting from a covered event, not to provide any attorneys – competent 
and trustworthy, or otherwise.  Because the contract is unambiguous on this point, the court 
must accept it over the contrary allegations in the SAC.  (See Dodd v. Citizens Bank of Costa 
Mesa (1990) 222 Cal.App.3d 1624, 1626-1627.)  Therefore, plaintiff cannot prove one of the 
three breaches he explicitly pleads:  that Arag owed a duty provide competent attorneys or 
breached that duty by failing to provide competent and trustworthy attorneys.  
 

Second, Arag is not vicariously responsible for the performance of its network attorneys 
under respondeat superior.  Respondeat superior is applicable only to agents and employees.  
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(See Lathrop v. HealthCare Partners Medical Group (2004) 114 Cal.App.4th 1412, 1421.)  The 
contract unambiguously states that the attorneys are not Arag’s agents or employees.  

 
Plaintiff argues that respondeat superior nevertheless applies because Arag paid the 

attorneys.  However, the mere duty to pay an independent contractor does not make the 
contractor an agent or an employee.  The key factor distinguishing an employee or agent from 
an independent contractor is whether the purported employer has the right to control the manner 
and means by which the work is performed.  (Millsap v. Federal Express Corp. (1991) 227 
Cal.App.3d 425, 431.)  The contract unambiguously disclaims this right, and the SAC pleads no 
extrinsic facts to contradict this. 

 
Third, plaintiff argues something not pleaded in the SAC – that despite the provision in 

the contract that he was free to choose any attorney he wished, Arag has discouraged this by 
design, paying only nominal amounts for non-network attorneys, so his choice was not really 
free.  Rather, he was forced to give up the attorney who had worked on the dissolution action for 
four years.  (See Opp. at 7:9-13.)   

 
The Court would not accept this allegation even if plaintiff had pleaded it.  The terms of 

coverage are generally clear and explicit.  Plaintiff has not alleged he paid the premiums without 
having the opportunity to examine the terms of the agreement.  Thus, he knew, or was capable 
of knowing, from the outset that the fees paid to non-network attorneys were limited.  Plaintiff 
was free to keep his original attorney and receive only partial payment of her fees, or choose a 
network attorney from Arag’s list, and have that attorney’s fees paid in full.  He was also free not 
to pay the insurance premiums if he was dissatisfied with the coverage. 

 
Fourth, Arag had no duty to pay $10,000 to attorney Kraemer if plaintiff hired Kraemer to 

modify a child custody or visitation order rather than to defend against his wife’s attempt to 
modify such an order.  

 
Arag argues that Kraemer was hired to modify the November 14, 2015 court order.  

(Opening brief at 6:11.)  The question is whether this is plain on the face of the SAC and the 
attached documents. 

 
The court concludes it is not.  The SAC does not explicitly allege this.  Further, the 

attached contract between plaintiff and Kraemer does not state the exact services Kraemer was 
hired to provide.  It does, however, state that his fee will be paid in full by Arag, suggesting that 
he was providing covered services.  This is consistent with the letter from Arag to plaintiff dated 
June 20, 2017 that is attached to the SAC, which states that the California court has ruled that 
Warren County Ohio is the proper venue for handling the issue of child visitation, and that the 
legal plan will “cover the child visitation matter paid-in-full pursuant to the terms of your legal 
plan if you work with a Network Attorney.”  That letter attaches a list of contract attorneys.  
Attorney Kraemer is on that list.  So it is not clear on the face of the pleading that Kraemer was 
providing an uncovered service.  The suggestion is just the opposite.  Arag has not established 
that plaintiff cannot prove the second alleged duty and breach.  Because the court may not 
sustain a demurrer to just part of a cause of action (PH II, Inc. v. Superior Court (1995) 33 
Cal.App.4th 1680, 1682-1683), the demurrer to the cause of action for breach of contract is 
overruled.  While the court cannot sustain the demurrer to the entire cause of action, however, 
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this last allegation—that Arag agreed that Kramer was hired under the contract and his services 
would be paid in full—remains the only viable theory articulated by plaintiff.  Indeed, the court in 
PH II, Inc. specifically pointed out that a motion to strike is the proper way of addressing theories 
of the complaint that do not encompass an entire cause of action.  But the Court cannot convert 
the demurrer into a motion to strike.  

 
The court makes one final point.  It concerns the third alleged duty and breach. 

Plaintiff has not alleged how Arag breached the covenant of good faith and fair dealing other 
than by failing to provide competent and trustworthy attorneys and pay the $10,000 charged by 
attorney Kraemer.  So, as currently pleaded, the cause of action for breach of contract does not 
appear to state a valid claim for breach of the obligation of good faith and fair dealing.  Further, 
while he may hint at this, plaintiff has not explicitly pleaded that Arag breached an implied term 
of the contract, or any obligation imposed by law, by failing to properly vet its network attorneys 
or ensure they have basic minimal competence and ethical standards.  Such a theory would not 
appear to be precluded by the express terms of the contract.   
 

2. Deceit. 
 
Arag argues that plaintiff has not pleaded deceit with particularity and has failed to allege 

certain elements at all. 
 
Plaintiff argues that Arag is liable for fraud committed by attorneys Garibay and Kraemer 

under respondeat superior and that he has adequately pleaded Arag is liable for 
misrepresenting coverage, first stating there would be payment in full for the child custody and 
visitation matter; then stating it would cover only the transfer portion of the case when the case 
moved to Ohio; and then stating it would not pay Kraemer, because he was filing a modification 
request, not resisting one. 

 
The court’s comments above regarding respondeat superior dispose of the first point.  

Because Garibay and Kraemer are not its employees or agents under the contract, Arag is not 
vicariously liable for their conduct even if they did commit fraud. 

 
Plaintiff’s second argument may point out ambiguities in the contract concerning whether 

there is still coverage if plaintiff is sued for modification of a child custody or visitation decree, 
loses, and then tries to reverse that loss, it does not cure a fatal omission in the SAC: the lack of 
any detailed allegation of reliance.  The question is what action did plaintiff take in reliance on 
any of the representations that his legal fees would be covered in full?  Stated differently, 
assuming that Arag failed to state truthfully, in its first letter on the subject, that it would pay 
Kramer’s fees in full, what would plaintiff have done differently if Arag had told him it would not 
pay Kraemer’s fees in full?   

 
Not every false statement gives rise to a cause of action for deceit, only those 

falsehoods on which a plaintiff justifiably relies and which damage him.  Plaintiff was involved in 
a pending dispute with his ex-wife about child custody and visitation.  He needed an attorney in 
Ohio and would have to pay for one.  Plaintiff does not allege that if he had known Arag would 
not pay $10,000 to Kraemer he would have paid less than $10,000 to some other attorney, or 
avoided legal fees altogether by giving up on the child custody and visitation issue. 
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In addition to what plaintiff argues in his Opposition, there is his allegation in the SAC 

that Arag “vouched” for the professional competence, trust, and integrity of the attorneys on its 
network.  (SAC at 10:21-22.)  But plaintiff provides no details about who made this statement, 
how they made it, and when they made it, as is required.  Further, neither the contract nor the 
other documents attaches to the SAC state that Arag vouches for its network attorneys.  
 

The demurrer to the cause of action for deceit is sustained, without leave to amend.   
 
3.  Business and Professions Code section 17200. 
 
Arag argues that the SAC pleads only unlawful conduct and is insufficient because it fails 

to state which provision of the Insurance Code Arag breached. 
 
Arag is correct.  A plaintiff alleging an unlawful business practice must identify a 

“particular section of the statutory scheme which was violated and . . . describe with any 
reasonable particularity the facts supporting violation.”  (Khoury v. Maly's of California, Inc. 
(1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 612, 619.)  Here, the SAC mentions the Insurance Code but fails to state 
which provision Arag violated.  Therefore, plaintiff has not stated a claim under the “unlawful” 
prong of section 17200.   

 
However, Arag is not correct that all the SAC alleges is unlawful conduct.  The SAC also 

alleges fraudulent conduct as stated in the cause of action for deceit; and unfair conduct in 
forcing plaintiff to choose a network attorney that was not competent and trying to drop plaintiff 
from coverage for its convenience.  (SAC at 9:9-26; 14:21-15:8.)  

 
The SAC fails sufficiently to plead fraudulent conduct for the same reason it fails to state 

a cause of action for deceit. 
 
That leaves the allegation regarding an unfair act or practice.  The allegation that Arag 

forced plaintiff to choose a network attorney is not actionable because the court has concluded 
that plaintiff was not unfairly forced to make that choice.  But Arag has not argued that the 
allegation about trying to drop plaintiff from coverage fails to state a cause of action.  Therefore, 
the demurrer to the cause of action for violation of Business and Professions Code section 
17200 is overruled. 

 
In its Reply Brief, Arag argues that the SAC fails to allege an unfair business practice, 

but the court disregards this argument because it should have been raised in the Opening Brief 
based on the allegations in the SAC. 

 
4. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress. 

 
Arag argues plaintiff has failed to plead facts showing that Arag engaged in extreme and 

outrageous conduct or that Arag intended to cause plaintiff emotional distress. 
 
The Court agrees.  The SAC basically alleges a contract dispute between plaintiff and 

Arag.  The Court concludes that nothing alleged against Arag personally rises to the level of 
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extreme and outrageous conduct, shows that Arag intended to cause plaintiff emotional distress, 
or shows that Arag recklessly disregarded the probability of causing emotional distress.  
(Davidson v. City of Westminster (1982) 32 Cal.3d 197, 209.)  An insurance company is 
“privileged, in pursuing its own economic interests, to assert in a permissible way its legal rights 
and to communicate its position in good faith to its insured even though it is substantially certain 
that in so doing emotional distress will be caused.”  (Hailey v. California Physicians' Service 
(2007) 158 Cal.App.4th 452, 475.)  In addition, the SAC does not appear to allege that plaintiff 
suffered severe emotional distress due to Arag’s claims handling practices, but due to the 
negligence or other breach of duty of the attorneys.  (See SAC at 21:8-14.)   

 
Plaintiff argues that intentional infliction of emotional distress is a “pendent” tort.  By this, 

the court surmises he is contending that if some other intentional tort has been adequately 
alleged, particularly, one like fraud, then a cause of action for intentional infliction of emotional 
distress has been adequately alleged automatically.  Plaintiff cites no authority for this 
proposition, and the court is aware of none.  

 
The only other argument plaintiff makes is that Arag is liable based on the allegedly 

outrageous actions of the attorneys.  However, as the court has already ruled, the SAC does not 
allege a relationship sufficient to make Arag vicariously liable for the conduct of the attorneys. 

 
The court sustains the demurrer to this cause of action without leave to amend. 

 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-01895 
CASE NAME: SHANKAR VS ARAG 
HEARING ON JOINDER IN DEMURRER ( FILED 04-21-21 BY ARAG NORTH 
AMERICA, INC) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 See line 5. 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-01895 
CASE NAME: SHANKAR VS ARAG 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended COMPLAINT of SHANKAR FILED BY 
TERRY GARIBAY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Defendant Garibay’s demurrer is sustained, without leave to amend.  (CCP § 430.10 

(e).) While plaintiff has requested leave to amend, he has failed to state how he could amend 

these claims to state a cause of action.  (Goodman v. Kennedy (1976) 18 Cal. 3d 335, 349.)    

 Discussion 
 
 The Court incorporates by reference its ruling on lines 5 and 6. 
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 Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) attempts to state four causes of action 
against attorney Garibay:  (1) breach of contract; (2) deceit; (3) violation of Business and 
Professions Code section 17200; and (4) intentional infliction of emotional distress.  Each cause 
of action fails.   
 
 The cause of action for breach of contract fails because plaintiff fails to plead 
recoverable damages.  The damages that plaintiff pleads occurred as a result of Garibay’s 
breach of contract are loss of custody and consortium of his son.  (SAC at 20:12-16.)  Plaintiff 
fails to cite any authority that these are recoverable damages for breach of contract.   
 
 The cause of action for deceit fails because plaintiff has failed to plead that cause of 
action with the particularity required.  To do that, he would have been required to plead a 
specific representation that defendant Garibay made, when she made it, whether it was oral or 
in writing, and how he relied on and was damaged by it.  Plaintiff failed to do most or all of this.  
(See ¶ 7.)   
 
 Instead, he has incorrectly focused on the fact that, in court, Garibay said plaintiff did not 
object to the move to Ohio when plaintiff claims he did, saying this was a fraud on him and the 
court.  (See p. 7, lines 1-6 and ¶ 7.)  Plaintiff misunderstands what is required to sue for fraud or 
deceit.  Not every untruth supports a claim for deceit, only untruths that induce the person 
hearing them to take harmful action in reliance.  Plaintiff pleads no action that he took based on 
Garibay’s in-court representation.  Presumably, he did not even hear it at the time, or he would 
have objected.   
 
 The cause of action for violation of Business and Professions Code section 17200 fails 
because plaintiff seeks only damages, not restitution.  Damages may not be awarded for a 
violation of section 17200.  (Korea Supply Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2003) 29 Cal.4th 1134, 
1144.) Plaintiff has not alleged he gave Garibay any money or property.  Thus, he has failed to 
allege there is anything she must return to him. He has alleged she caused him damages and 
claims the damages can be “restituted.”  (See Complaint, p. 17, line 12.)  That does not 
transform the recovery plaintiff seeks from damages to restitution. 
 
 Finally, the cause of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress fails because it 
is untimely. The statute of limitations for such a cause of action is two years from the date of 
accrual of the cause of action.  (Wassmann v. South Orange County Community College Dist. 
(2018) 24 Cal.App.5th 825, 852-853; CCP § 335.1.)  The cause of action accrues, and the 
statute of limitations begins to run, once the plaintiff suffers severe emotional distress as a result 
of outrageous conduct on the part of the defendant.  (Id. at 853.) 
 
 Here, the fourth page after the signature line for the SAC is a letter from plaintiff to Arag, 
labeled Exhibit A.  That letter makes clear that Garibay’s conduct occurred in 2015.  The FAC 
itself makes clear that after Garibay misrepresented plaintiff’s wishes to the Monterey Court his 
child was moved to Ohio and he suffered severe emotional distress.  (See p. 7, 21; see also 
letter from Arag to plaintiff dated 6/20/17 (plaintiff would certainly have suffered severe 
emotional distress before that date.)   Plaintiff did not file an action against Garibay until he filed 
his Second Amended Complaint on February 9, 2021. (See Woo v. Superior Court (1999) 75 
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Cal.App.4th 169, 176.)  Thus, on its face, the SAC demonstrates that the cause of action for 
intentional infliction of emotional distress is barred by the statute of limitations. 
 
 Plaintiff argues the statute of limitations has not expired because the wrong is 
continuous, but he fails to cite any authority that a continuing wrong theory can be applied under 
the circumstances present here.   

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00154 
CASE NAME: MEDINA VS. BIO-RAD 
HEARING ON PETITION TO/FOR COMPEL ARBITRATION ON PLAINTIFFS 
CLAIM FILED BY BIO-RAD LABORATORIES, INC., BIO-RAD LABORATORIES 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
At the request of the parties, the matter is continued.  The matter is reset for June 10, 2021, 
9:00 a.m. 

 


